

# KEEPING THE LIGHTS ON

ENERGY EFFICIENCY AND COMMUNITY SOLAR FOR ALL GEORGIANS

Berneta L. Haynes, Georgia Watch Alex Trachtenberg, Southface Dawone Robinson, Natural Resources Defense Council 2017

Many thanks to Berneta L. Haynes (Georgia Watch), Alex Trachtenberg (Southface), Dawone Robinson (Natural Resources Defense Council), and Jill Kysor (Southern Environmental Law Center) for contributing to the development of this paper.











# KEEPING THE LIGHTS ON

ENERGY EFFICIENCY AND COMMUNITY SOLAR FOR ALL GEORGIANS

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Benefits of Energy Efficiency and Community Solar	
Financial Stability	4
Lower Energy Costs	4
Improved Individual Health	4
Improved Community Health	5
How to Make Solar & Energy Efficiency Affordable & Accessible	5
Better and More Inclusive Financing	6
Utility Incentives and Rebates	6
Community Solar	7
Georgia's Clean Energy Future	9
Appendix A	10
Appendix B	12
Footnotes	13



# KEEPING THE LIGHTS ON

# ENERGY EFFICIENCY AND COMMUNITY SOLAR FOR ALL GEORGIANS

Many Georgia families struggle with high energy bills. In 2016, the Georgia Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP) served 129,446 families in need of assistance with their energy bills. Lower-

ENERGY EQUITY refers to the fair distribution of the benefits and burdens of the ways we produce and consume energy. In practice, this means reducing mounting energy costs to ensure that families are able to meet their basic needs, making homes and communities healthier for all by increasing access to energy efficiency and clean energy, and ensuring that decision-making around energy policy is more reflective of the needs of all communities.

income families, in particular, spend a larger percentage of their income on energy bills than higher income families.<sup>2</sup> As a result, struggling families sometimes find themselves forced to choose between electricity and other basic necessities, such as groceries or healthcare.<sup>3</sup> This high energy burden often leaves lasting negative impacts on health and financial well-being.<sup>4</sup> Families fall into debt trying to pay utilities,<sup>5</sup> sometimes seeking high interest short-term loans to avoid utility shutoffs for nonpayment.<sup>6</sup> High energy bills not only drive up housing costs but also can cause health problems, as families cut back on necessary heating and cooling to save money.<sup>7</sup> In effect, high energy bills contribute to health problems and trap families in a cycle of poverty. For all these reasons, energy is an equity issue in Georgia.

The good news is that energy efficiency and community solar can help reduce the burden of high energy hills!

Energy efficiency and community solar can lower and stabilize utility bills, creating healthier and more comfortable living environments and reducing the high energy demand that drives up energy prices. But programs offering energy efficiency upgrades and community solar remain largely unavailable or otherwise inaccessible for the families who need them the most to reduce their high utility bills: families who rent, live in multifamily affordable housing, or otherwise cannot afford the often high upfront costs of energy efficiency and solar. Georgians need energy efficiency programs that, in addition to

#### WHAT IS ENERGY EFFICIENCY?

Energy efficiency means using less energy to perform the same function. It can refer to the character of individual appliances as well as an entire home. For example, an LED light bulb uses less energy to provide the same amount of light as a traditional incandescent light bulb.

See Appendix A.



rebates, provide equitable financing options, like on-bill financing options, to make participation accessible and affordable. Likewise, community solar can go a long way toward making clean energy more accessible and affordable to the families and households struggling with high utility bills. By understanding the benefits of and barriers to energy efficiency and community solar, we can determine how to make them more equitable and accessible programs for all Georgians.

#### BENEFITS OF ENERGY EFFICIENCY AND COMMUNITY SOLAR

Energy efficiency and community solar can transform families and communities. Reducing energy use and reliance on dirty energy means lower utility bills for struggling families, greater financial stability, better health outcomes, and cleaner communities.

#### FINANCIAL STABILITY

High energy burden can intensify financial instability, often forcing people to choose high risk financial alternatives. When families are unable to pay their utility bills, they face loss of service and shutoffs. To pay their utility bills and avoid loss of service, families often resort to risky short-term loans with high interest rates, which fuel a cycle of poverty and financial instability.<sup>8</sup> Addressing high energy burden through energy efficiency improvements can significantly reduce struggling families' utility bills, increase their financial stability, and help them avoid risky, predatory loans.

#### **DID YOU KNOW?**

Energy efficiency and solar create jobs.

- There are more than 3,900 solar jobs in Georgia at more than 230 companies, generating more than \$550 million in gross revenue.
- As of 2017, over 57,400
   Georgians work in the energy efficiency sector.

Solar energy can increase community resilience during extreme weather events.

 Backup solar power can help families manage during power outages by storms.

See Appendix A.

#### LOWER ENERGY COSTS

We pay more for energy during periods when people are using the most energy, like during hot summer days in Georgia. The costs to families living in inefficient homes are tremendous, as power is more expensive during times of high usage and often comes from energy sources that harm the environment and vulnerable communities. By using less energy over time through efficiency measures, families can reduce their power costs and significantly lower their utility bills. 10

#### IMPROVED INDIVIDUAL HEALTH<sup>III</sup>

There is a direct link between burdensome energy bills and health.<sup>12</sup> Energy burdened families hoping to save money sometimes cut back on necessary energy use, such as heating and cooling, which can result in poor health.<sup>13</sup> Living in improperly heated or cooled homes increases cases of asthma, heart disease, and other respiratory problems, especially among children and elderly individuals.<sup>14</sup> Increased health problems and visits to the hospital lead to medical bills, a significant financial burden for already cash-strapped families. Energy efficiency can reduce the need to cut back on necessary heating and cooling and improve the health of families.





#### IMPROVED COMMUNITY HEALTH

Low-income neighborhoods are disproportionately located near polluting power generation facilities. African-Americans, in particular, are more likely to live within 30 miles of a coal-fired power plant, which results in poor air quality that can cause or aggravate respiratory conditions. Emissions from polluting power plants located in or around low-income neighborhoods contribute to higher rates of asthma and cancer. In effect, home energy inefficiency is a public health issue as much as it is a home comfort and financial concern for families in low-income neighborhoods. Making homes more energy efficient and increasing access to clean energy like community solar can go a long way toward reducing the reliance on dirty energy and increasing the overall health of the community.

# HOW TO MAKE SOLAR AND ENERGY EFFICIENCY AFFORDABLE AND ACCESSIBLE

Energy efficiency and solar programs remain out of reach for most low-income families who need them the most to reduce their utility

bills. While many utilities around the country have created robust energy efficiency and solar programs, low-income families still encounter barriers that prevent them from participating in these beneficial programs. Financial obstacles block low-income families at every turn. Low-income families often lack access to financing, for instance, making it impossible for them to pay for the upfront costs of energy efficiency upgrades and solar installations. High fixed charges that utilities sometimes charge solar users make solar financially out of reach for families interested in installing solar panels.<sup>18</sup>

In addition to the financial barriers, the type of home or housing arrangement a family has can prevent them from accessing energy efficiency and solar options. For example, low-income families may live in rental housing where they lack the authority to do energy efficiency upgrades or install solar panels. Other families may live in homes that lack suitable rooftops, due to the roof condition or tree coverage, for solar panels.

#### **POLICY RECOMMENDATIONS**

- On-bill financing. Design and implement an on-bill financing option, based on the Pay As You Save model, to eliminate high upfront costs that prevent low-income families from making energy efficiency upgrades and installing rooftop solar;
- **Incentives and rebates.** Provide robust financial incentives and rebates for low-income families looking to participate in energy efficiency and solar programs; and
- Community solar. Design and implement community solar programs that allow low-income families who rent, have rooftops unfit for solar panels, or cannot afford solar panels to access solar.



These conditions along with the financial obstacles block low-income families from taking advantage of the growing energy efficiency and solar opportunities.<sup>19</sup>

Policies and programs that address these barriers can increase low-income access and participation in energy efficiency and solar, and provide relief to low-income families. Making energy efficiency and solar accessible to all communities and consumers, especially low-income families and communities of color, means creating policies and programs that reduce the high upfront costs and that focus on community building, community resilience, and economic opportunity.

#### BETTER AND MORE INCLUSIVE FINANCING

Low-income families generally lack the money or credit necessary to finance energy efficiency upgrades and solar measures that can reduce and stabilize their monthly energy bills. To combat this problem, some utilities have begun implementing on-bill financing, which allows customers to finance energy efficiency upgrades or solar on their monthly utility bills. Through on-bill financing, the utility pays the upfront costs of the upgrades.<sup>20</sup> In turn, the customer gradually pays back the costs on the monthly bill, based on the energy savings the customer receives as a result of the new energy efficiency upgrades.<sup>21</sup>

The PAYS (Pay As You Save)<sup>22</sup> model of on-bill financing, in particular, has gained popularity in the south, with co-ops such as **Roanoke Electric Cooperative** in Virginia<sup>23</sup> and **Ouacita Electric Cooperative**<sup>24</sup> in Arkansas launching their own programs. Under the PAYS model, the utility places on the customer's monthly bill a fixed charge that is less than the estimated savings generated from the energy efficiency upgrades, so the customer experiences immediate cash flow. Because the PAYS model does not place a lien on the property or on the customer obtaining a loan or lease, the model expands access to customers who otherwise would be unable to finance energy efficiency upgrades and rooftop solar. Enabling more families to access

# OTHER TYPES OF SOLAR PROGRAMS

Distributed generation (or rooftop solar), delivers energy generated from the solar panels on the home's rooftop directly to the home

Utility scale solar, large utilityowned solar arrays that are usually not located in the community using the energy, allows families to access solar without the potential fuss and expense of installing panels on their rooftops.

See Appendix A

energy efficiency and rooftop solar lessens the need to turn on expensive power generation systems and build more power generating plants.<sup>25</sup> This means lower overall power costs for the utility and its customers and fewer environmental impacts in vulnerable communities where power generating plants are often located.<sup>26</sup> On-bill financing, therefore, benefits everyone and is crucial for ensuring access to energy efficiency and rooftop solar for all.

#### **UTILITY INCENTIVES AND REBATES**

Most electric utilities have energy efficiency and solar programs that provide financial incentives and rebates for customers looking to participate in such programs. But few electric utilities provide robust energy efficiency and solar incentives specifically targeted to low and moderate-income customers. Programs that support low-income energy efficiency are largely funded by federal sources, such as the LIHEAP and the Weatherization Assistance Program (WAP). Until recently, there was little utility funding to support energy efficiency programming and incentives for low-income communities.<sup>27</sup>

The largest electric utility in Georgia is Georgia Power, which



serves more than 2.4 million customers across the state. The American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy recently released the first edition of its Utility Energy Efficiency Scorecard, ranking Georgia Power 44 out of the 51 largest utilities in the country.<sup>28</sup> Electric utilities across the state have the opportunity to increase energy efficiency programming for all customer classes, and such programs are particularly needed to reduce the high energy burden on low-income families.<sup>29</sup>

Georgia is making progress on this front. In 2016, at the urging of Energy Efficiency for All-Georgia<sup>30</sup> members, the Georgia Public Service Commission ordered Georgia Power to spend \$2.5 million per year from 2017-2019 on a new energy efficiency program for low-income single and multifamily homes. The new Energy Assessment and Solutions Program (EASP) will serve approximately 300-400 families living in single family homes and 600-800 families living in multi-family homes.<sup>31</sup> This program, set to launch in September 2017, is a strong starting point and something to build on in the future to sufficiently address the energy needs of all low-income families in Georgia. See Appendix B for information about local utility programs and assistance.

#### **COMMUNITY SOLAR**

Shared community solar<sup>32</sup> presents an ideal alternative for low-income households who rent, cannot afford the high upfront costs of rooftop solar panels, live in multi-family housing, or lack suitable rooftops for panels. Community solar, sometimes called shared solar, allows individuals to purchase affordable clean energy produced close to home, without installing any new equipment. Using this model, a solar array is built in a location with good sun exposure and access to the power grid. Anyone who pays their own power bill, including renters and owners, can then buy subscriptions for a portion of the energy produced by the system, which is credited against their power bill.





Community solar expands access to a broader group of people and provides tangible benefits (e.g. energy bill credits) to individuals and families who need help on their energy bills. Currently, roughly 49% of all households and businesses cannot host solar arrays on their own property.<sup>33</sup> Community solar overcomes physical and economic obstacles to solar access. Creating community solar programs specifically tailored for low-income families can go a long way toward lowering their energy burden.<sup>34</sup>

## WHAT CAN YOU DO **NOW** TO REDUCE YOUR ENERGY BILLS?

While we need more robust programs to address the energy needs of Georgians, programs do exist to help you better manage your utility bills. If you are unable to afford your utility bill, apply for LIHEAP to get emergency financial assistance. If your utility bills are currently manageable, but you would like to lower them, contact your utility or electric municipal cooperative to learn how you can get a free energy audit to determine your energy efficiency and weatherization needs. See Appendix B for more information.

YOU HAVE A UTILTIY BILL YOU CAN'T AFFORD TO PAY?

Apply for LIHEAP, which offers assistance in the form of a **one-time** payment to help with a high utility bill.

- Visit Southwest Georgia Community Action Council, Inc. at SWGACAC,com or call 1-800-642-3384 for more information.
- Project SHARE is also a statewide program administered by the Salvation Army that provides emergency assistance. For more information, call 1-800-25-SHARE.

YOUR CURRENT UTILITY BILLS ARE MANAGEABLE, BUT YOU'D LIKE TO LOWER THEM?

- Learn about your weatherization options by visiting Southwest Georgia Community Action Council, Inc. at SWGACAC,com or call 1-800-642-3384 for more information.
- For Georgia Power customers, as well as Mitchell EMC and Colquitt EMC members, ask about a free Energy Audit.

YOU'D LIKE TO NOT ONLY LOWER YOUR BILLS BUT ALSO HAVE MORE CONTROL OVER YOUR ENERGY CONSUMPTION?

- Learn about PayGo, a prepay program. For more information, visit PayGoUtilities.com.
- For Georgia Power customers, consider enrolling in the PrePay program for more flexibility and better management of your utility bill.





### **GEORGIA'S CLEAN ENERGY FUTURE**

Accessible energy efficiency programs and community solar can help low-income families in Georgia manage their utility bills and access clean, affordable energy. Expanding access to energy efficiency and community solar to families struggling with high energy bills would go a long way toward ensuring that no one ever has to choose between their energy bills and groceries. The information and recommendations provided in this paper will enable families to lower their energy burden while securing a better energy future for their communities and for all Georgians.

\*\*\*



#### APPENDIX A

### **ENERGY EFFICIENCY**

#### WHAT IS ENERGY EFFICIENCY?

A more energy efficient home, therefore, would provide the same level of convenience and temperature comfort while using less overall energy. Energy efficient homes are well-insulated with few or no air leaks, and have efficient heating and cooling systems and appliances. Lower-income families often live in older homes with outdated appliances, heating, and cooling systems, and lacking proper insulation. Furthermore, renters often lack control over their energy systems and appliances, making upgrades more challenging.<sup>35</sup> State and federal weatherization and energy efficiency programs offer assistance and incentives for home upgrades (including air sealing, installing LED bulbs, and ENERGY STAR® appliances, etc.) that reduce energy usage and increase home comfort.

#### **HOW IS ENERGY EFFICIENCY DELIVERED?**

- 1. Weatherization Assistance Program (WAP), a federal program delivered through the United States Department of Energy (DOE), provides "whole-house" energy efficiency upgrades for low-income households struggling with high utility bills. Through WAP, state-based community action agencies, other nonprofits and local governments receive federal funding to deliver WAP assistance to low-income households. The agency or entity responsible for delivering WAP starts by visiting the home to do an energy audit or assessment of the home's energy efficiency needs. Some agencies have staff work crews that conduct the energy audits and install weatherization measures, while others hire contractors to perform the work. Others, such as the Southwest Georgia Community Action Council, use a combination of staff work crews and hired contractors. During the energy audit, the contractor analyzes the "whole house," looking at the building envelope, heating and cooling systems, electrical systems, lighting, and appliances to determine the specific energy efficiency needs of the home. Because the program seeks to not only reduce the utility bills of low-income families, but to improve the health and safety of their homes, the contractor also assesses any potential safety concerns in the home before installing any energy efficiency measures. The program is a safety of their homes of the home before installing any energy efficiency measures.
- 2. <u>Utility-Based Energy Efficiency Programs</u> generally include whole-house weatherization measures, which complement state-based weatherization programs, and direct install programs for low-income households. Direct install programs involve providing or installing low-cost efficiency items, such as light bulbs and low-flow showerheads. These items, which the utility may offer at no cost to the resident, provide modest bill savings and may accompany weatherization upgrades.<sup>38</sup> Additionally, energy efficiency programs may offer rebates for customers who purchase energy efficient bulbs, thermostats, and appliances.<sup>39</sup>
- 3. <u>Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program (LIHEAP)</u>, <sup>40</sup> administered by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, provides financial assistance to low-income households that pay a high proportion of their income for home energy, particularly heating and cooling. In 2014, LIHEAP assisted 122,861 households in Georgia. <sup>41</sup> Georgia households participating that year received an average of \$338 in heating assistance. <sup>42</sup>

#### **TYPES OF SOLAR PROGRAMS**

1. <u>Distributed generation (or rooftop solar)</u>, delivers energy generated from the solar panels directly to the home. Distributed generation systems are often placed on the rooftops of homes, but they can also be on the ground or elsewhere on the property. Homeowners may elect to pay for upfront installation costs and ongoing maintenance costs, or they may engage in power purchase agreements, known as solar energy



- procurement agreements in Georgia, in which a solar developer arranges for the design, permitting, financing, and installation of a solar energy system at little to no upfront cost.
- 2. <u>Community solar farms</u>, unlike rooftop solar panels, are generally located somewhere in the community—on a church, apartment building, community center, or other property—and provide energy to any neighborhood residents who purchase a subscription.
- 3. <u>Utility scale solar</u>, similar to community solar, allows families to access solar without the potential fuss and expense of installing panels on their rooftops. While a rooftop solar installation may consist of dozens of panels, a single utility scale project may have hundreds of thousands or even millions of panels, producing large amounts of energy for their customers or members.<sup>43</sup>

#### **ENERGY EFFICIENCY AND SOLAR PROVIDE INCREASED JOB OPPORTUNITIES**

According to American Council for Energy Efficiency, over 57,400 Georgia residents already work on energy efficiency products and projects. <sup>44</sup> Energy efficiency stimulates local economies by creating local jobs in the manufacture, sale, and installation of efficiency measures. <sup>45</sup> Additionally, there are more than 3,900 solar jobs <sup>46</sup> in Georgia at more than 230 companies, generating more than \$550 million in gross revenue. As of late 2016, the U.S. solar industry employs more than 260,000 workers at nearly 31,000 companies. <sup>47</sup> Solar jobs have grown 25 percent since 2015, which is nearly 17 times faster than the overall U.S. economy. <sup>48</sup> The solar industry ranks second in total employment among energy industries, employing more workers than natural gas, over twice as many as coal, over three times as many as wind energy and nearly five times the number employed by the nuclear industry. <sup>49</sup> Solar jobs pay well, too. At a median wage of \$26 per hour, solar workers are competitive with similar industries and provide a livable wage. <sup>50</sup>

Additionally, the solar workforce is becoming more diverse in terms of employing more women, racial and ethnic minorities. More accessible education, training programs, and apprenticeships that provide hands-on experience and technical credentials will allow the solar workforce to continue growing and diversifying.<sup>51</sup>

#### **EMERGENCY PREPAREDNESS BENEFITS OF SOLAR**

Solar-powered backup generators and microgrids can be a key resource for homes, businesses, shelters, and other facilities to be resilient in the aftermath of emergency situations. Particularly, solar energy can help families manage power outages associated with natural disasters.<sup>52</sup>



# **APPENDIX B**

# **LOCAL ASSISTANCE & HELP**

ORGANIZATION/UTILITY	SERVICES	
Southwest Georgia Community Action Council, Inc. 912 First Avenue SE, PO Box 3728 Moultrie, Georgia 31776-3728 Phone: (229) 985-3610 or 1-800-642-3384 Website: http://www.swgacac.com/	<ul> <li>Weatherization</li> <li>LIHEAP (see Council website to find your service site)</li> </ul>	
Mitchell EMC Website: https://mitchellemc.com/	Free Energy Audit to identify your home's energy efficiency needs (learn more and fill out an application at https://mitchellemc.com/energy)	
Colquitt EMC Website: http://colquittemc.com/	Free Energy Audit to identify your home's energy efficiency needs (learn more and fill out an application at http://colquittemc.com/energy-audits/)	
Georgia Power Website: https://www.georgiapower.com/	<ul> <li>Free Energy Audit to identify your home's energy efficiency needs (learn more and fill out an application at http://residential.georgiapower. com/products-programs/energy-audit/)</li> <li>Rebates and incentives for energy efficiency measures, including installing LED lighting, smart thermostats, etc.</li> <li>Home Energy Improvement Program (contact 1-877-310-5607 for additional information).</li> <li>PrePay Program (visit https://www. georgiapower.com/residential/payment-options/ pre-pay.cshtml or call 1-877-506-3905 to learn more and sign up).</li> </ul>	
PayGo Website: https://paygoutilities.com/	Prepay program helps consumers manage and take control over their energy bills and consumption. Contact PayGo at https://paygoutilities.com/company/contact/.	
Project SHARE Website: https://projectshareinfo.com/	Emergency financial assistance to cover a utility bill. To apply for aid, make an appointment at the SHARE Partner Agency in your county of residence. Call Project SHARE toll-free at 1-800-257-4273 for more information.	



## **FOOTNOTES**

- 1. Low Income Home Energy Assistance Program, Georgia Division of Family Services, available at https://dfcs.georgia.gov/low-income-home-energy-assistance-program-liheap.
- 2. The situation is especially dire in Georgia where families in Atlanta have the third highest energy burden in the nation, with low-income families spending more than 10% of their household income on energy bills. The median U.S. energy burden for all cities sampled is 3.5% and the median low-income energy burden is more than 7%. Ariel Drehobl and Lauren Ross, Lifting the High Energy Burden in America's Largest Cities: How Energy Efficiency Can Improve Low Income and Underserved Communities, ACEEE and Energy Efficiency for All, at 3, 5 (April 2016) (hereinafter, "Lifting the High Energy Burden"), available at http://aceee.org/research-report/u1602.
- 3. Id. at 8.
- 4. Id. at 4.
- 5. Diana Hernandez and Stephen Bird, Energy Insecurity: A Framework for Understanding Energy, the Built Environment, and Health Among Vulnerable Populations in Context of Climate Change, American Journal of Public Health (2013), available at https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4819257/pdf/nihms-763053.pdf.
- 6. Lifting the High Energy Burden, supra n. 2, at 13.
- 7. *Id.*
- 8. Id.
- 9. These are called "peak demand" periods. Ten percent of the country's electric system is built to meet demand during just 1% of hours during the day. Brett Feldman, et. al, Advanced Energy Economy: Peak Demand Reduction Strategy, Navigant Consulting (Oct. 2015), available at http://info.aee.net/hubfs/PDF/aee-peak-demand-reduction-strategy.pdf?t=1500402638257.
- 10. Additionally, generating more renewable energy like solar energy can greatly benefit utilities and the electric grid by helping to meet energy needs during peak times in a cost-effective manner, available at https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy15osti/63038.pdf.
- 11. New Studies Identify Significant Energy Savings Potential in Georgia's Affordable Multifamily Housing and Highlight Best Practices for Achieving Savings, Energy Efficiency for All, available at http://www.energyefficiencyforall.org/sites/default/files/GA%20PS%20%20PDG%20Release%20Fact%20Sheet.pdf
- 12. M.M. Haby, et. al, Energy interventions that facilitate sustainable development and impact health: an overview of systematic reviews, Revista Panamericana de Salud Pública, 39(4), at 200-207.
- 13. Lifting the High Energy Burden, supra n. 2, at 13.
- 14. Io
- 15. Patterson, Jacqui et. al, Just Energy Policies: Reducing Pollution and Creating Jobs, NAACP, at 3 (Feb. 2014).
- 16. Low-Income Solar Policy Guide, GRID Alternatives, Vote Solar, and Center for Social Inclusion (Mar. 2016).
- 17. Addressing energy inefficiency in housing—through bill assistance, weatherization, and energy efficiency programs—can help reduce public health concerns and break the cycle of poverty, Just Energy Summit 2016: A Framing Document, available at http://www.psejes.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/JustEnergySummit2016AFramingDocument.pdf.
- 18. Some utilities apply higher fixed or standby charges specifically to the bills of customers who use solar panels or make energy efficiency upgrades; these are charges customers pay just for being a customer and they cover the cost of customers' reliance on the grid. See more at Seth Nowak, Some utilities are rushing to raise fixed charges. That would be bad for the economy and your utility bill, ACEEE (Dec. 2014), available at http://aceee.org/blog/2014/12/some-utilities-are-rushing-raise-fixe. Additionally, the inability to receive credit for the energy that their panels generate and send back to the grid makes solar less financially desirable for low-income families. See National Renewable Energy Laboratory resources for further explanation, available at https://www.nrel.gov/technical-assistance/basics-net-metering.html and http://www.nrel.gov/tech\_deployment/state\_local\_governments/basics\_value-of-solar\_tariffs.html.
- 19. The Clean Energy Group, through its Resilient Power Project has identified a number of interconnected obstacles and barriers to deploying solar and energy storage technologies in low-income communities. Through their research they have also identified more than 50 solutions or interventions that can provide equitable access and economic opportunity for solar in low-income communities. See Robert Sanders and Lewis Milford, Clean Energy Equity in 2017: How Foundations Can Advance Solar and Storage Technologies in Low-Income Communities, Clean Energy Group (Feb. 2017), available at http://www.cleanegroup.org/clean-energy-equity-in-2017/.
- 20. Adrienne L. Thompson, Protecting Low-Income Ratepayers as the Electricity System Evolves, The Energy Bar Association, at 295-96 (Nov. 2016), available at http://eba-net.org/sites/default/files/18-265-305-Thompson%20-%20FINAL.pdf.
- 21 id
- 22. Rory McIlmoil, Got 90 seconds? Learn how your electric utility can save you money and energy, Appalachian Voices (May 2017), available at http://appvoices.org/2017/05/22/got-90-seconds-learn-how-your-electric-utility-can-save-you-money-and-energy/. See also Clean Energy Works, available at http://cleanenergyworks.org/blog/pays-financing/.
- 23. See Upgrade to \$ave, Roanoke Electric Cooperative, available at http://www.roanokeelectric.com/UpgradeToSave.
- 24. See HELP Pays, Ouachita Electric Cooperative, available at https://www.oecc.com/help.
- 25. Id.
- 26. Id.



### **FOOTNOTES**

- 27. In large part due to the efforts of the national initiative Energy Efficiency for All (EEFA) and its more than 40 state and national partners, we have seen a more than \$230 million increase in low-income energy efficiency funding by utilities for the multifamily affordable housing (MFAH) sector since 2014. Learn more about Energy Efficiency for All at http://energyefficiencyforall.org/
- 28. Grace Relf, et. al, 2017 Utility Energy Efficiency Scorecard, American Council for an Energy Efficient Economy (June 2017), available at http://aceee.org/sites/default/files/publications/researchreports/u1707.pdf.
- 29. Achieving the maximum electricity savings potential by 2034 in Georgia for families living in multi-family housing would require an investment of \$332 million. The investment would provide nearly \$700 million in benefits to families. Phil Mosenthal and Matt Socks, Potential for Energy Savings in Affordable Multifamily Housing, Prepared for Natural Resources Defense Council and Energy Efficiency for All by Optimal Energy (May 2015), available at http://www.energyefficiencyforall.org/sites/default/files/EEFA%20Potential%20 Study.pdf.
- 30. Energy Efficiency for All-Georgia works to link the energy and housing sectors together to tap the benefits of energy efficiency for low-income families. Partners include Georgia Watch, Southface, Groundswell, Partnership for Southern Equity, and Enterprise Community Partners. See Energy Efficiency for All, available at http://energyefficiencyforall.org/allies.
- 31. Georgia Power Low Income Energy Efficiency Program Plan, Ga. Public Service Comm'n, Dkt. 40162 (Feb. 2, 2017), available at http://www.psc.state.ga.us/factsv2/Document.aspx?documentNumber=166950.
- 32. See Community Shared Solar, Low Income Solar Policy Guide, available at http://www.lowincomesolar.org/toolbox/community-shared-solar/.
- 33. David Feldman, Shared Solar: Current Landscape, Market Potential, and the Impact of Federal Securities Regulation, National Renewable Energy Laboratory (2015).
- 34. See Solar for All: What Utilities Can do Right Now to Bring Solar within Reach for Everyday Folks, Southern Environmental Law Center, Partnership for Southern Equity and South Carolina Ass'n for Community Economic Development, at 3-4, available at https://www.southernenvironment.org/uploads/words\_docs/SolarForAll\_InlineDoc\_061716\_Final.pdf; and Community Solar: Best Practices for Utilities in the South, Southern Environmental Law Center, available at https://www.southernenvironment.org/uploads/publications/CommSolar\_Utility\_Best\_Practices.PDF.
- 35. Lifting the High Energy Burden, supra n. 2, at 13.
- 36. The Georgia Environmental Finance Authority oversees the Weatherization Assistance Program in Georgia.
- 37. Weatherization Works, U.S. Department of Energy, available at https://energy.gov/sites/prod/files/2017/05/f34/wap\_factsheet\_FI-NAL ndf
- 38. Rachel Cluett, et al., Building Better Energy Efficiency Programs for Low-Income Households, ACEEE, at 9 (Mar. 2016).
- 39. See Georgia Power's "Rebates and Incentives" for heat pumps, LED lighting, water heaters, and smart thermostats at http://residential.georgiapower.com/rebates/.
- 40. LIHEAP Frequently Asked Questions for Consumers, U.S. Dep't of Health & Human Services, Office of Community Services, available at https://www.acf.hhs.gov/ocs/resource/consumer-frquently-asked-questions#Q1.
- 41. LIHEAP Report to Congress for Fiscal Year 2014, U.S. Dep't of Health & Human Services, Office of Community Services, at 46, available at https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/ocs/fy14\_liheap\_rtc\_final.pdf.
- 42. Id. at 41.
- 43. Solar Power Plants: Large-Scale PV, Union of Concerned Scientists, available at http://www.ucsusa.org/clean-energy/renewable-energy/solar-power-plants-large-scale-pv#.WTrFZGjyvIV.
- 44. How energy efficiency can help low-income households in Georgia, ACEEE (Aug. 14, 2017), available at http://aceee.org/fact-sheet/southeast-low-income-series.
- 45. Id.
- 46. 2016 National Solar Jobs Census, The Solar Foundation, at 49 (Feb. 2017), available at http://www.thesolarfoundation.org/nation-al/#wow-modal-id-1.
- 47. Id. at 7.
- 48. Id. at 4.
- 49. Id. at 5.
- 50. Id. at 6.
- 51. Id. at 6.
- 52. Stephen Lacey, How Solar PV Can Support Disaster Resiliency, GreenTech Media (July 14, 2014), available at https://www.greentech-media.com/articles/read/after-superstorm-sandy-states-look-to-distributed-energy-and-microgrids.

